
 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

ST. LUCIE LOCAL COORDINATING BOARD FOR THE 
TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED (LCB) 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

Date:  Wednesday, September 14, 2016 
 
Time:  2:00pm   
 
Location:    St. Lucie Transportation Planning Organization (TPO) 
 466 SW Port St. Lucie Boulevard, Suite 111  
 Port St. Lucie, Florida 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
3. Self-Introductions 
 
4. Approval of Minutes 

• June 15, 2016 Regular Meeting  

5. Comments from the Public 
 
6. Approval of Agenda 
 
7. Action Items 
 

7a. Annual Operations Report (AOR):  The Community Transportation 
Coordinator (CTC) will present the results of the current Annual 
Operations Report (AOR) for review. 

 
  Action:  Approve, approve with conditions, or do not approve. 
 

7b. By-Laws Update: The annual update of the By-Laws which provide a 
framework for the operation of the LCB will be reviewed. 

 
 Action: Approve, approve with conditions, or do not approve. 

 
 
 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



September 14, 2016 LCB Regular Meeting Page 2 of 3 
 

7c. Grievance Procedures Update:  The annual update of the Grievance 
Procedures which are used in dispute resolutions regarding the provision 
of transportation disadvantaged services will be reviewed. Appointments 
to the Grievance Committee will be considered. 

 
Action:  Approve, approve with conditions, or do not approve the 
Grievance Procedures and appoint or re-appoint a Grievance 
Committee. 

 
7d. Amendments to Coordination Agreements: The CTC will present 

coordination agreements with public transportation providers for review. 
 
 Action: Approve, approve with conditions, or do not approve. 
 
7e. 2016-17 Shirley Conroy Rural Area Capital Assistance Program 

Grant:  The CTC will present the County’s application for the Shirley 
Conroy Grant. 

 
 Action: Approve, approve with conditions, or do not approve. 

 
8. Discussion Items 
 

8a. Mobility Enhancement Grant Application:  Information will be 
presented on a proposal to be submitted to the Florida Commission for 
the Transportation Disadvantaged. 

 
Action:  Discuss and provide comments to staff. 
 

8b. U.S. 1/Edwards Road Bus Stop Access:  Options will be presented 
for improving safety for riders accessing Treasure Coast Connector bus 
stops at U.S. 1/Edwards Road. 

 
Action:  Discuss and provide comments to staff. 
 

8c. CTC Performance Measures:  The CTC’s response to recent Florida 
legislation requiring the development and implementation of 
performance measures by CTCs will be presented. 

 
Action:  Discuss and provide comments to staff. 

 
8d. Mobility Needs Survey:  The Martin-St. Lucie Mobility Manager will 

present draft survey questions on mobility issues for review. 
 

Action:  Discuss and provide comments to staff. 
 
9.   FDOT Comments    
 
10.    Recommendations/Comments by Members 
 

 



September 14, 2016 LCB Regular Meeting Page 3 of 3 
 

11. Staff Comments 
 
12. Comments from the Public 
 
13. Next Meeting: The next LCB meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, 

December 21, 2016, 2:00pm, at the St. Lucie TPO, 466 SW Port St. Lucie 
Boulevard, Suite 111, Port St. Lucie, Florida. 

 
14. Adjourn 
 
NOTICES 
 
The St. Lucie TPO satisfies the requirements of various nondiscrimination laws and regulations including Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Public participation is welcomed without regard to race, color, national origin, age, sex, 
religion, disability, income, or family status. Persons wishing to express their concerns about nondiscrimination should 
contact Marceia Lathou, the Title VI/ADA Coordinator of the St. Lucie TPO, at 772-462-1593 or via email 
at lathoum@stlucieco.org. 
  
Persons who require special accommodations under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) or persons who require 
translation services (free of charge) should contact Marceia Lathou, 772-462-1593, at least five days prior to the 
meeting. Persons who are hearing or speech impaired may use the Florida Relay System by dialing 711.  
 
Items not included on the agenda may also be heard in consideration of the best interests of the public’s health, 
safety, welfare, and as necessary to protect every person’s right of access. If any person decides to appeal any 
decision made by the St. Lucie LCB with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, that person shall need a 
record of the proceedings, and for such a purpose, that person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made which includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
Kreyol Ayisyen: Si ou ta renmen resevwa enfòmasyon sa a nan lang Kreyòl Aysiyen, tanpri rele nimewo (772) 462-
1593. 
 
Español: Si usted desea recibir esta informaciòn en Español, por favor llame al 772-462-1593. 

 

mailto:lathoum@stlucieco.org


_________________________________________________________________________________  
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 
 

 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
   772-462-1593  www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

 
 
  

ST. LUCIE LOCAL COORDINATING BOARD FOR THE 
TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED (LCB)  

REGULAR MEETING 
 
DATE:  Wednesday, June 15, 2016 
 
TIME: 2:00 p.m.  
 
LOCATION: St. Lucie TPO Board Room 
   Coco Vista Center 
   466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd., Suite 111 
   Port St. Lucie, Florida  
 

 
MINUTES 

 
1. Call to Order 
 

Kathryn Hensley, Vice Chair called the meeting to order at 2:01 pm.   
 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance   
 
 
3. Self Introductions 
 

Self introductions were made and a Quorum was confirmed.  
 
 Members present:   Representing: 
  

Paula Lewis, Chairperson  St. Lucie TPO Board 
Kathryn Hensley, Vice Chair  Public Education Community 
Steve Palumbo     Fl. Dept. of Vocational Rehabilitation 
Jim Dwyer     Children at Risk 
Dalia Dillon     Fl. Dept. of Elder Affairs 

   Nancy Hess      Citizen Advocate-Transit User  
Roy Brewer     Veteran Services  

 Stacy Malinowski    Economically Disadvantaged Community 
 Alan Love     Disabled Community 
 Marianne Arbore    Local Mass Transit Board 
 Harry Hernandez    Career Source Research Coast 
 Marie Dorismond    FDOT District 4 



 
June 15, 2016 LCB Regular Meeting Minutes                                                           Page 2 of 6 

DRAFT 
 

 Darrell Winfree    Citizen Advocate 
Carolyn Niemczyk   Elderly Community 
 
Others Attending:   Representing: 
 
Peter Buchwald    St. Lucie TPO 
Marceia Lathou    St. Lucie TPO 
Mary Holleran    Recording Specialist 
Murriah Dekle    St. Lucie County Mass Transit 
Beth Ryder     St. Lucie Co. Community Services 
Heather Young    St. Lucie County Attorney 
Elizabeth Logiodice   American Cancer Society 
Bolivar Gomez    Martin MPO 
Wibet Hay     FDOT District 4 
 
 

4. Approval of Minutes  
*  March 18, 2016 Public Hearing 
*  March 18, 2016 Regular Meeting 

 
* MOTION – MOVED by Ms. Hensley to approve the minutes of the March 

16, 2016 Public Hearing and the March 16, 2016 Regular LCB Meeting.  
 
** SECONDED by Ms. Malinowski  Carried UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
5. Comments from the Public - Ms. Elizabeth Logiodice spoke on behalf 

of the American Cancer Society’s transportation program that provides 
volunteer drivers for transporting cancer patients to and from their 
medical appointments. She sought information on partnering with 
agencies for resources that could provide connections and volunteers 
for patients that have to cross into other counties for life saving medical 
treatment.  

 
 Commissioner Lewis thanked Ms. Logiodice and referred her to Ms. 

Lathou and Ms. Arbore for networking information and solving 
transportation issues outside of St. Lucie County.  Discussion ensued on 
the number of patients seeking volunteer drivers for long distance 
medical transportation.  

 
 
6. Approval of Agenda 
 
* MOTION – MOVED by Ms. Malinowski to approve the agenda as 

presented. 
 
** SECONDED by Ms. Niemczyk   Carried UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 



 
June 15, 2016 LCB Regular Meeting Minutes                                                           Page 3 of 6 

DRAFT 
 

7. Action Items 
 

7a. Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC) Evaluation: 
Evaluation and results of the CTC in meeting the needs of the 
transportation disadvantaged.   
 
Ms. Lathou provided the results of the CTC evaluation to meet the needs 
of the transportation disadvantaged population as required by the FCTD.  
 
As part of the evaluation the LCB is required to establish an annual 
percentage goal increase for the number of trips provided within the 
public transit system. In the past an annual percentage goal increase of 
seven percent on the fixed route system was set.  
 
Rider surveys indicated a high level of customer satisfaction with the 
demand response system.  Issues related to trips were provided, with 
the most common being late pick-up. Recommendations were reviewed 
and the CTC plans to continue to implement strategies to increase 
ridership. 
 
Staff is recommending a four percent ridership increase. The Board was 
asked to consider approving the CTC Evaluation and to set a percent 
annual ridership increase goal. 
 
Mr. Palumbo and others commented on the decrease in ridership noting 
it was a significant number.   
 
Ms. Arbore explained the variety of factors involved in the decrease, 
including riders moving out of the county, employment and hours being 
reduced and inclement weather.   
 

* MOTION – MOVED by Ms. Niemczyk to approve the 2016 CTC 
Evaluation and to set a four percent annual ridership increase goal.   

  
SECONDED by Mr. Palumbo   Carried UNANIMOUSLY 

 
 

7b. Trip and Equipment Grant Allocation and Trip Rate:  Review 
of the Trip Equipment Grant Allocation and Trip Rate.  

 
Ms. Murriah Dekle, Transit Manager provided a review of the FCTD Trip 
and Equipment Allocation and Trip Rate to support transportation 
services and equipment that is not provided by any other funding source 
for non-sponsored transportation disadvantaged trips.  
 
The total allocation for St. Lucie County for FY/17 and the annual 
agreement of the award and modification of the rates of reimbursement 
were provided.  The grant will commence on July 1, 2016. 
 



 
June 15, 2016 LCB Regular Meeting Minutes                                                           Page 4 of 6 

DRAFT 
 

Mr. Brewer asked if any of the funding could be used to assist St. Lucie 
County Veterans.  Chairperson Lewis indicated how the funds are 
allocated and requirements for their specific use.  
 

* MOTION – MOVED by Mr. Brewer to approve the FCTD Trip and 
Equipment Allocation and Trip Rate as presented. 

 
** SECONDED by Mr. Love   Carried UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 

7c. Transportation Disadvantaged Service Plan (TDSP) Minor 
Update: A clarification of eligibility for the local TD program.  
 
Ms. Lathou provided review and clarification of eligibility criteria for 
maintaining the integrity of the TD program, and the requirement that 
detailed eligibility information be contained in the TDSP. The FCTD 
eligibility criteria that must be met was reviewed and included in the 
Service Element of the TDSP eligibility section.    
 
The Board was asked to consider approval of the clarification of eligibility 
criteria contained in the TDSP Minor Update. 
 

* MOTION – MOVED by Mr. Brewer to approve the TDSP Minor Update. 
 
** SECONDED by Ms. Hensley    
 

This item required a Roll Call Vote: 
 
Ms. Niemczyk-For; Mr. Love-For: Mr. Winfree-For; Ms. Hess-For; 
Mr. Dwyer-For; Ms. Malinowski-For; Ms. Hensley, Vice Chair-For;  
Ms. Dorismond-For; Ms. Dillon-For; Mr. Palumbo-For; Mr. Brewer- For; 
Mr. Hernandez-For; Ms. Arbore-For;  Ms. Lewis, Chairperson-For 

 
Fourteen members voted for approval of the TDSP Minor Update.  
The motion carried UNANIMOUSLY.  

 
 
 7d. 2016 Meeting Schedule Revision:  A proposed change to the 

December 2016 meeting date.   
 
 Ms. Lathou explained the need to change the previously adopted 

scheduled December 14, 2016 meeting date was due to the scheduling 
on December 11-14, 2016 of a joint annual conference of the FCTD and 
the FPTA. 

 
 
 
* MOTION – MOVED by Ms. Malinowski to approve the change of the 

previously scheduled December 14, 2016 regular meeting date to 



 
June 15, 2016 LCB Regular Meeting Minutes                                                           Page 5 of 6 

DRAFT 
 

Wednesday, December 21, 2016. 
 
** SECONDED by Ms. Niemczyk   Carried UNANIMOUSLY 

   
 

8. Discussion Items 
 

 8a. Evaluation of Treasure Coast Connector (TCC) U.S. 1 Bus 
Stop and Infrastructure Locations:  A presentation of an analysis of 
selected bus stop and bus shelter concerns along U.S. 1. 

 
 Ms. Lathou reviewed the numerous factors when establishing bus stops 

and installing shelters and benches and provided criteria for determining 
bus stop locations.  

 
Ms. Lathou indicated the FY 2016/17 – FY 2020/21 TIP includes a project 
to improve conditions at the U.S. 1/Edwards Road bus stops, with an 
estimated start of construction in FY 2017/18.   
 
The U.S. 1/Edwards Road bus stop near the Mustard Seed Ministries and 
the long standing concern for the LCB for access to the HANDS Clinic on 
U.S. 1 was discussed at length. 
 
Ms. Lathou provided recommendations relating to improving access to 
the HANDS Clinic.  St. Lucie County and Community Transit staff are 
exploring options to increase ridership on the existing HANDS Clinic 
shuttle, and working closely with HANDS staff and enhanced marketing. 
 
Board Discussion and Comments: 
 
Ms. Malinowski and Mr. Dwyer initiated a discussion of safety issues at 
the U.S. 1/Edwards Road bus stops. 
  
Car/taxi services, and shuttles were discussed to take people to and 
from bus stops or to and from their homes. 
 
Mr. Hernandez commented on health issues from the hot weather, as 
well as safety concerns with long periods of wait time for the bus. 
 
Ms. Lathou called on Ms. Arbore and Ms. Dekle to explain the “Route 
Shout” app. 
 
Ms. Arbore explained access to the “Route Shout” app that provides 
information on bus locations.  
 
 
Ms. Dekle explained that locations for shelters and bus stops are based 
on ridership and funding availability.  She addressed marketing to 
attract ridership and explained the restrictions imposed on advertising, 



 
June 15, 2016 LCB Regular Meeting Minutes                                                           Page 6 of 6 

DRAFT 
 

and commented on the issues with maintenance of bus shelters.  
 
“Adopt-a-Shelter” programs and other funding sources were suggested 
by members. 
 
 

9.     FDOT Comments - Ms. Hay introduced Ms. Marie Dorsmond who will 
be attending the TPO Board as the FDOT District 4 representative. 

 
 
10. Recommendations/Comments by Members 
 

Mr. Love commented on his service as a member of the LCB and said 
that it is a privilege to serve.  
 
Ms. Arbor advised of “Dump the Pump” Day.  Ms. Dekle provided “Dump 
the Pump” treat bags as hand-outs for everyone. 
 
Mr. Brewer commented on the upcoming Dedication for Gold Star 
Mothers Memorial at Port St. Lucie Veterans Memorial Park. Gold Star 
recipient Woody Williams will be attending. 
 
 

11. Staff Comments – None 
 
 
12. Comments from the Public – None 
 
 
13. Next Meeting:  The next LCB meeting is a regular meeting scheduled 

for 2:00 pm on Wednesday, September 14, 2016.  
 
 
14. Adjourn 
 
 There was no further business, the meeting adjourned at 3:00 pm  
 
 Respectfully Submitted:   Approved by: 
 
 
 
 ________________________  ______________________ 
 Mary Holleran     Paula Lewis, Chairwoman 
 Board Recorder      



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 7a 
 
Item Title:  Annual Operations Report (AOR) 
 
Item Origination: Florida Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (FCTD) 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –  Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Approve the AOR, approve with conditions, or do 

not approve. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Based on the compliance of the AOR with all 

applicable FCTD standards, it is recommended 
that the AOR be approved.   

 
 
Attachments 
• Staff report 

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 





 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 7b 
 
Item Title:  By-Laws Update 
 
Item Origination: Florida Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (FCTD) 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –   Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Approve the By-laws Update, approve with 

conditions, or do not approve. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Because the draft FY 2016-17 By-Laws are 

consistent with current LCB operating guidelines 
developed by the FCTD, it is recommended that 
the draft FY 2016-17 By-Laws be approved.   

 
 
Attachments 
• Staff Report 
• Draft FY 2016-17 By-laws  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO: St. Lucie Local Coordinating Board for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (LCB) 
 
THROUGH: Peter Buchwald 
 Executive Director 
 
FROM: Marceia Lathou 
 Transit Program Manager 
 
DATE: September 1, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: By-laws Update 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The LCB By-Laws guide the Board in fulfilling its purpose of identifying local 
service needs and providing information, advice, and direction to the 
Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC) on the coordination of services 
for the transportation disadvantaged. The By-Laws are based on the most 
current Local Coordinating Board and Planning Agency Operating Guidelines 
developed by the Florida Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged 
(FCTD). Florida law requires that the LCB By-Laws be updated annually. 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The existing By-laws were reviewed. No changes to the By-laws are proposed. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Because the draft FY 2016-17 By-Laws are consistent with current LCB 
operating guidelines developed by the FCTD, it is recommended that the draft 
FY 2016-17 By-Laws be approved. 
 

Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 
 
 

ST. LUCIE LOCAL COORDINATING BOARD FOR THE 
TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED (LCB) 

 
FY 2016-17 BY-LAWS, RULES, AND PROCEDURES 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

September 14, 2016 
 
 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



St. Lucie LCB                               FY 2016-17 By-Laws, Rules, and Procedures 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 

1.0 OVERVIEW ................................................................................ 3 
1.1 ESTABLISHMENT ........................................................................ 3 
1.2 PURPOSE .................................................................................. 3 
1.3 AUTHORITY ............................................................................... 3 

2.0 STRUCTURE ............................................................................... 4 
2.1 BOARD ...................................................................................... 4 

2.1.1 Composition & Membership .................................................. 4 
2.1.2 Terms of Membership .......................................................... 5 
2.1.3 Attendance ........................................................................ 5 
2.1.4 Vacancy ............................................................................ 5 
2.1.5 Alternates .......................................................................... 5 
2.1.6 Officers ............................................................................. 6 
2.1.7 Minutes ............................................................................. 6 
2.1.8 Voting ............................................................................... 6 
2.1.9 Quorum ............................................................................. 7 

3.0 OPERATING PROCEDURES ......................................................... 8 
3.1 ADMINISTRATIVE OPERATIONS ................................................... 8 
3.2 MEETINGS ................................................................................. 8 
3.3 PUBLIC ACCESS ......................................................................... 8 
3.4 NOTICE OF MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS ...................................... 9 
3.5 AGENDA .................................................................................. 10 
3.6 EMERGENCY MEETINGS, WORKSHOPS & COMMITTEE MEETINGS ... 10 
3.7 MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES ............................................... 11 
3.8 AMENDMENTS .......................................................................... 11 
3.9 FLORIDA GOVERNMENT IN THE SUNSHINE LAW .......................... 11 

 

 

 



FY 2016-17 LCB By-Laws Page 3 of 11 
 

1.0 OVERVIEW 
 
1.1 ESTABLISHMENT 

 
The St. Lucie Local Coordinating Board for the Transportation 
Disadvantaged (LCB) was established pursuant to Section 427.0157, 
Florida Statutes (FS). 

 
1.2 PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of the LCB is to develop local service needs and to provide 
information, advice, and direction to the Community Transportation 
Coordinator on the coordination of services within their local service area 
to be provided to the transportation disadvantaged. 

 
1.3 AUTHORITY 
 

The LCB is recognized as an advisory body in its service area to the 
Florida Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged (FCTD). 

 
 
  

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 4 of 11 
 

2.0 STRUCTURE 
 
2.1 BOARD 
 

2.1.1 Composition & Membership 
 

In accordance with Section 47.0157, FS, all members of the St. 
Lucie LCB shall be appointed by the TPO. The composition, 
membership, and terms of membership of the LCB are established 
in Rule 41-2, Florida Administrative Code (FAC) and follows.  
 

a) An elected official from the service area, serving as the 
chairperson; 

b) A local representative of the Florida Department of 
Transportation; 

c) A local representative of the Florida Department of Children and 
Family Services; 

d) A representative of the Public Education Community which could 
include, but not be limited to, a representative of the District 
School Board, School Board Transportation Office, or Headstart 
Program in areas where the School District is responsible; 

e) In areas where they exist, a local representative of the Florida 
Division of Vocational Rehabilitation or the Division of Blind 
Services, representing the Department of Education; 

f) A person who is recognized by the Veterans Service Office 
representing the veterans of the county; 

g) A person who is recognized by the Florida Association for 
Community Action (President) representing the economically 
disadvantaged in the county; 

h) A person over sixty representing the elderly in the county; 
i) A person with a disability representing the disabled in the county; 
j) Two citizen advocate representatives in the county; one who 

must be a person who uses the transportation service(s) of the 
system as their primary means of transportation; 

k) A local representative for children at risk; 
l) In areas where they exist, the Chairperson or designee of the 

local Mass Transit or Public Transit System’s Board, except in 
cases where they are also the CTC; 

m) A local representative of the Florida Department of Elder Affairs; 
n) An experienced representative of the local private for profit 

transportation industry. In areas where such representative is not 
available, a local private non-profit representative will be 
appointed except where said representative is also the CTC. In 

 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 5 of 11 
 

cases where no private for-profit or private non-profit 
representatives are available in the service area, this position will 
not exist on the LCB; 

o) A local representative of the Florida Agency for Health Care 
Administration; 

p) A representative of the Regional Workforce Development Board 
established in Chapter 445, Florida Statutes; and  

q) A representative of the local medical community, which may 
include, but not be limited to, kidney dialysis centers, long term 
care facilities, assisted living facilities, hospitals, local health 
department or other home and community based services, etc. 

 
2.1.2 Terms of Membership 

 
Except for the state agency representatives, the members of the 
LCB shall serve for three-year terms. Individuals can serve for 
more than one term.  

 
2.1.3 Attendance 

 
The TPO may review and consider rescinding the appointment of 
any member of the LCB who fails to attend or send an alternate 
for three consecutive meetings. The LCB shall notify the FCTD if 
any state agency voting member or their alternate fails to attend 
three consecutive meetings. 

 
2.1.4 Vacancy 

 
If a vacancy occurs, individuals may request appointment to the 
LCB for consideration by the TPO Board. These requests shall be 
in writing and addressed to the TPO Executive Director. Any 
requests will be included, by the TPO Executive Director, on the 
subsequent TPO Board’s agenda, and the applicant will receive a 
written or email response as appropriate from the TPO. 

 
2.1.5 Alternates 

 
LCB members are encouraged to appoint alternates. An LCB 
alternate may be appointed according to the following terms: 

 
a) Alternates are to be appointed in writing or email.  

 
b) Alternates may be recommended by TPO staff. 

 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 6 of 11 
 

 
c) Each alternate may vote only in the absence of the primary 

member on a one vote per member basis. 
 

d) Alternates must be a representative of the same interest as 
the primary member. 

 
2.1.6 Officers 

 
a) Chairperson 

  
The TPO Board shall appoint an elected official to serve as 
the official Chairperson for all LCB meetings.  The appointed 
chairperson shall be an elected official who resides in the 
county that the LCB serves (41-2.012(1) FAC). The 
Chairperson shall serve until their elected term of office has 
expired or otherwise is replaced by the Designated Official 
Planning Agency. The TPO Board shall replace or reappoint 
the Chairperson at the end of his/her term. 

 
b) Vice Chairperson 

 
The LCB shall hold an annual organizational meeting for the 
purpose of electing a Vice-Chairperson (41-2.012(2) FAC).  
The Vice Chairperson shall be elected by a majority vote of 
a quorum, defined in Section 2.1.9, of the LCB members. 
The Vice Chairperson shall serve a term of one year starting 
with the first meeting after the election.  In the event of the 
Chairperson’s absence, the Vice Chairperson shall assume 
the duties of the Chairperson and conduct the meeting. The 
Vice Chairperson may serve more than one term. 
 

 
2.1.7 Minutes  

 
The staff of the TPO shall maintain the minutes and other records 
of the Board. The minutes shall accurately reflect the proceedings 
of the Board. 

 
2.1.8 Voting 

 
As long as it does not constitute a conflict of interest, all members 
of the Board that are present, including the Chairperson, shall be 
required to vote on any question involving LCB action. 
 

 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 7 of 11 
 

An affirmative vote of fifty percent (50%) of the quorum plus one 
will be required in order for a motion to pass. In the event of a tie 
vote, the motion will fail. 

 
2.1.9 Quorum 

 
A majority of the voting members of the Board must be present 
for the LCB to conduct business. 

 
 
 
 

 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 8 of 11 
 

3.0 OPERATING PROCEDURES 
 
3.1 ADMINISTRATIVE OPERATIONS 

 
The administrative operations of the LCB shall be in accordance with the 
Local Coordinating Board and Planning Agency Operating Guidelines 
dated April 2014, developed by the FCTD; applicable state and federal 
regulations; and as directed by the Board or delegated by the Board to 
the Executive Director of the TPO. 

 
3.2 MEETINGS 
 

The LCB shall meet as often as necessary in order to meet its 
responsibilities. However, the LCB shall meet at least quarterly with a 
quorum of its membership. Meetings by teleconference are prohibited 
since these meetings are “local.” 

 
3.3 PUBLIC ACCESS 
 

All public records of the LCB are available for inspection and examination 
in accordance with applicable state and federal regulations. Public 
records inquiries may be submitted during regular business hours to the 
offices of the St. Lucie TPO, 466 Port St. Lucie Boulevard, Suite 111, 
Port St. Lucie, Florida 34953, (772) 462-1593. 
 
Anyone with a disability requiring accommodation to attend a meeting, 
workshop, and/or proceeding should contact the St. Lucie County 
Community Services Director at (772) 462-1777 or TDD (772) 462-
1428 at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. 

 
All meetings, workshops and proceedings shall be open to the public.  
All meetings will provide opportunity for public comments on the agenda 
in accordance with the following policy:  
 
1. Prior to the approval of the agenda near the start of an LCB Board 
meeting and prior to the meeting adjournment, time will be reserved for 
comment by members of the general public. The duration of comments 
from the public are limited to not more than three minutes per person, 
although the speaker is permitted to submit commentary in writing of 
any length provided that copies are made for all members of the Board 
being addressed by the speaker and the Board Secretary. The speaker 
shall state the speaker’s name and address for the record at the 
beginning of the speaker’s comment period. No members of the public 
may lend speaking time to another speaker. The “Public Comment” 
period is limited to not more than 30 minutes duration. The Chairperson 

 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 9 of 11 
 

of the LCB, as applicable, may provide for additional public comment for 
good cause shown.  
 
2. During a presentation by a member of the public, other members 
of the public, LCB members, or LCB staff members (other than the 
meeting Chairperson in said individual’s role as the presiding officer) 
shall avoid interrupting the speaker. After all of the speakers have 
completed their comments or presentations or the “Public Comment” 
period has elapsed, the Chairperson, LCB members, and LCB staff may 
question the speakers. 
 
3. Members of the public seeking to address the LCB should prepare 
their remarks in advance in an effort to be concise and to the point. 
Speakers must come to the podium to speak. Members of the public 
shall not address individual members of the LCB or staff but shall 
address the Board being addressed as a whole through the presiding 
Chairperson. Any speaker who becomes unruly, screams, uses 
profanity, or shows poor conduct may be asked to leave the podium and 
return to the speaker’s seat by the presiding Chairperson. Should the 
speaker refuse to leave the podium and return to the speaker’s seat, 
the Chairperson, as the presiding officer, may rule the speaker “out of 
order.” Should the speaker still refuse to leave the podium and return 
to the speaker’s seat, the Chairperson may ask a law enforcement 
officer to remove the speaker from the meeting. 
 
The LCB reserves the right to modify or terminate the Public Comment 
Policy. Any modifications to the Public Comment Policy become effective 
upon their adoption by the LCB.  
 

 
3.4 NOTICE OF MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS 
 

All LCB meetings, public hearings, committee meetings, etc., shall be 
advertised, at a minimum, in the largest general circulation newspaper 
in the designated service area prior to the meeting a minimum of seven 
days prior to the meeting. 

 
 Meeting notice shall include date, time, and location, general 
 nature/subject of the meeting, and a contact person and number to 
 call for additional information and request accessible formats.  
  
 Staff shall provide the agenda and meeting packet to the FCTD, LCB 
 members and all other interested parties prior to the meeting. Special 
 consideration to the advanced delivery time of certain technical or 
 detailed documents, such as the Transportation Disadvantaged Service 

 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 10 of 11 
 

 Plan, shall be given for additional review time. The agenda shall 
 include a public participation opportunity. 
 
3.5 AGENDA 
 

Generally, at least seven (7) days prior to a Board meeting or workshop 
at which policy-making decisions will be made, an agenda shall be 
available for distribution on request by any interested person. The 
agenda shall list the items in the general order they are to be considered 
provided, however, that for cause stated in the record by the 
Chairperson, items may be considered at the Board meeting out of their 
listed order. The agenda shall be specific as to items to be considered. 
All matters involving the exercise of Board discretion and policy making 
shall be listed on the agenda. 

 
Any person desiring to have an item placed on the agenda of a regular 
Board meeting shall request of the Board in person or in writing that the 
item be considered for placement on the agenda. Requests in person 
shall be made at a regular Board meeting, and the Board will consider 
whether to place the item on the agenda for a subsequent regular 
meeting. Requests in writing must be received by the TPO at least 
fourteen (14) days in advance of a scheduled regular Board meeting and 
must describe and summarize the item. The written requests shall be 
mailed or delivered to the TPO at the address shown in Section 3.3. The 
Board then will consider at the scheduled regular meeting whether to 
place the item requested in writing on the agenda for a subsequent 
regular meeting. 

 
Upon approval by the Chairperson or the Board, additional items not 
included on the meeting agenda may be considered at a meeting by the 
Board for the purpose of acting upon matters affecting the public health, 
safety, or welfare or which are in the best interests of the public. 

 
3.6 EMERGENCY MEETINGS, WORKSHOPS & COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 

The LCB may conduct an emergency meeting or workshop for the 
purpose of acting upon matters affecting the public health, safety, or 
welfare or which are in the best interests of the public. Whenever an 
emergency Board meeting or workshop is scheduled to be held, the TPO 
shall provide public notice of such meeting or workshop as soon as 
possible. Such notice shall contain the information specified in Section 
3.4. Emergency/committee meetings shall be advertised at a minimum, 
in the largest general circulation newspaper in the designated service 
area as soon as possible prior to the meeting.  

 



FY 2015-16 LCB By-Laws Page 11 of 11 
 

Staff shall give the FCTD, LCB members and all interested parties one 
week notice, if possible, of the date, time, location, and proposed 
agenda for the LCB committee meetings and emergency meetings. 
Meeting materials shall be provided as early as possible.  

 
3.7 MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES 
 

All meetings of the Board and the Committees shall be governed by the 
rules and procedures contained in Robert’s Rules of Order which are 
applicable and which are not inconsistent with these By-Laws, Rules, 
and Procedures or with any special rules of order that the Board may 
adopt. The By-Laws, Rules, and Procedures shall be reviewed, updated 
(if necessary), and adopted annually. It is recommended that the By-
Laws, Rules and Procedures are reviewed and approved during the first 
quarter (July-September). Approved By-Laws, Rules, and Procedures 
shall be submitted to the FCTD.  

 
3.8 AMENDMENTS 
 

These By-Laws, Rules, and Procedures may be amended at any Board 
meeting by the affirmative vote of the majority of the voting members 
of the Board provided that a copy of the proposed amendment(s) shall 
have been mailed or e-mailed to each Board member at least four 
calendar days prior to the meeting. 

 
3.9 FLORIDA GOVERNMENT IN THE SUNSHINE LAW 
 

All LCB meetings, including committee meetings, shall be conducted in 
conformance with the Florida “Government in the Sunshine Law”. Failure 
of an LCB member to follow Florida Government in the Sunshine laws 
may result in disciplinary action including suspension or termination of 
participation on the LCB. 

               
             ST. LUCIE COUNTY LOCAL COORDINATING 

                                BOARD FOR THE TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED 
 

 
_______________________  
Paula Lewis                        
Chairperson 

 
 ATTEST: 
 
 _______________________________                  _______________________ 
 Marceia Lathou      Date 
 Transit Program Manager                              

 



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 7c 
 
Item Title:  Grievance Procedures Update 
 
Item Origination: Florida Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (FCTD) 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –  Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Approve the Grievance Procedures Update, 

approve with conditions, or do not approve and 
appoint or re-appoint a Grievance Committee. 

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the draft FY 2016-17 Grievance 

Procedures meet the requirements of the FCTD 
and facilitate the conduct of business by the LCB, 
it is recommended that the draft FY 2016-17 
Grievance Procedures be approved and that a 
Grievance Committee be appointed or re-
appointed.  

 
 
Attachments 
• Staff Report 
• Draft FY 2016-17 Grievance Procedures  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO: St. Lucie Local Coordinating Board for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (LCB) 
 
THROUGH: Peter Buchwald 
 Executive Director 
 
FROM: Marceia Lathou 
 Transit Program Manager 
 
DATE: September 1, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Grievance Procedures Update 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
As an extension of the Florida Commission for the Transportation 
Disadvantaged (FCTD), the LCB is tasked with implementing the 
Transportation Disadvantaged program at the local level. This includes the 
development of written procedures to hear and advise on grievances and the 
annual update of these procedures. 
 
The purpose of the Grievance function is to process, investigate, and make 
recommendations in a timely manner on issues for which a local resolution 
has not occurred. Filing a complaint with the transit operator and/or CTC is 
always the first step in the problem-solving process. If the complaint is not 
resolved to the customer’s satisfaction, generally the next step would be to 
file a written grievance with the LCB. 
 
To assist in implementing the grievance function, the LCB is required to 
establish a Grievance Committee consisting of voting members of the LCB. 
The current members of the Grievance Committee are Ms. Arlease Hall, 
Ms. Kathryn Hensley, and Mr. Steve Palumbo. 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The LCB Grievance Procedures were reviewed by TPO staff. The only change 
proposed is a minor update of FCTD contact information. 

Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



September 1, 2016 Page 2 of 2 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Because the draft FY 2016-17 Grievance Procedures meet the requirements 
of the FCTD and facilitate the conduct of business by the LCB, it is 
recommended that the draft FY 2016-17 Grievance Procedures be approved 
and that a Grievance Committee be appointed or re-appointed. 

 













 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 7d 
 
Item Title:  Amendments to Coordination Agreements 
 
Item Origination: Florida Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (FCTD) 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –  Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Approve, approve with conditions, or do not 

approve. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Because the coordination agreements assist in 

reducing duplication of services to the 
transportation disadvantaged community, it is 
recommended that the LCB approve the 
coordination agreements.   

 
 
Attachments 
• Staff Report 
  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 





 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 7e 
 
Item Title:  2016-17 Shirley Conroy Rural Area Capital 

Assistance Program Grant 
 
Item Origination: Florida Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (FCTD) 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8    –   Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Approve, approve with conditions, or do not 

approve. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Approve the application and authorize the Chair 

to sign the necessary documents.   
 
 
Attachments 
• Staff report 
• Grant application 
  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



















































 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 8a 
 
Item Title:  Mobility Enhancement Grant Application 
 
Item Origination: Florida Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (FCTD) 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –  Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Discuss and provide comments to staff. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Discuss and provide comments to staff.   
 
 
Attachments 
• Staff report 
• Grant application 
  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 





 

 

 

 
 
 

FISCAL YEAR 2016-17 
 

PROGRAM MANUAL 

FOR THE 

MOBILITY ENHANCEMENT GRANT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Issued By: 
 

FLORIDA COMMISSION FOR THE TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED 
 

605 Suwannee Street, Mail Station 49 
 

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0450 
 

850-410-5700 
 

Fax 850-410-5752 

www.dot.state.fl.us/ctd 

http://www.dot.state.fl.us/ctd


 

1 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Transportation Disadvantaged Trust Fund is administered by the Florida Commission for 
the Transportation Disadvantaged (Commission), pursuant to Section 427.0159, Florida 
Statutes. The purpose of the Transportation Disadvantaged Trust Fund is to provide a 
dedicated funding source for the operational and planning expenses of the Commission in 
carrying out its legislative responsibilities. 

 
The 2016 Florida Legislature authorized $1,750,000 of non-recurring funds to be competitively 
awarded by the Commission to Community Transportation Coordinators (CTCs) to support 
projects that: 

 
1) enhance the access of older adults, persons with disabilities, and low-income individuals 

to healthcare, shopping, education, employment, public services and recreation 
2) assist in the development, improvement and use of transportation systems in non- 

urbanized areas; 

3) promote the efficient coordination of services 

4) support inter-city bus transportation; or 

5) encourage private transportation provider participation. 
 
Unlike the Trip/Equipment Grant Program, this grant requires an application that identifies a 
specific project(s) with a proposed budget(s). The application shall identify a need and 
describe how the project will meet that need with new or enhancements to existing services. 
The application shall include details as to how the project will be implemented and defines 
benchmarks to measure project effectiveness. The deadline to submit applications to the 
Commission is October 11, 2016. 

 
Projects should focus on improving access to or creating new opportunities for mobility 
services. Proposed projects must begin providing services on or about January 1, 2017 with 
continued service through June 30, 2017. 

 
Following the deadline, a Commission subcommittee will review the applications and 
recommend projects to be awarded. The Commission will review and approve the projects 
recommended by the subcommittee; grant agreements will be executed soon after their 
approval. 

 
This manual is divided into two parts:   Program Requirements and the Grant Application 
Instructions and Forms. 



 

2 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 

PART I 
MOBILITY ENHANCEMENT GRANT 
PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS 

 
This part of the manual contains requirements of the grant program. 

 

1. ELIGIBILITY INFORMATION 
 

A. Eligible Recipients 
 

A Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC) who has an executed Memorandum of 
Agreement (MOA) and Transportation Disadvantaged Service Plan (TDSP). Recipient of 
these funds will be referred to as the Grantee. 

 
B. Allowable Expenditures 

 
The grant funds allocated from the Transportation Disadvantaged Trust Fund are for 
the specific purpose of reimbursing the CTC for a portion of each passenger trip 
provided to eligible non-sponsored transportation disadvantaged individuals, or for 
equipment to be utilized in the designated service area. 

 
The Grantee shall not use grant funds to supplant or replace funding of transportation-
disadvantaged services that are currently funded by any federal, state or local 
governmental agency. The grant funds shall not be used as a system subsidy to cover 
other operating costs or deficits. 

 
(1) Non-sponsored trips:   A non-sponsored trip is a one-way trip for an eligible 
individual  who  meets  the  definition  of  transportation  disadvantaged  and  is  not 
sponsored by any other federal, state or local government program. 

 
(2) Capital Equipment:  Capital equipment is any equipment used to improve or 
expand transportation services to the transportation disadvantaged and is utilized within 
the Grantee’s coordinated system. Projects that are eligible for the Commission’s 
Shirley Conroy Rural Area Program Grant or the Trip & Equipment Grant may be 
considered if needs are beyond the 25% limitations set forth within the Trip & 
Equipment Grant. 



 

3 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 

2. GRANT APPROVAL 
 

All grants are subject to approval by the Commission. Costs incurred prior to grant 
agreement execution cannot be charged to the project, nor will the Commission give 
retroactive grant agreement execution. 

 

3. GRANT FUNDING 
 

This grant program provides ninety-percent (90%) funding and requires a ten-percent 
(10%) local cash match generated from local sources. No state or federal government 
revenues are acceptable as local match. All match funding must be documented, 
reasonable, necessary and related to this project. 

 
Examples of cash generated from local sources include local appropriations, dedicated 
tax  revenues,  private  donations,  net  income  generated  from  advertising  and 
concessions, contract revenues, and farebox revenues. 

 

4. INVOICING 
 

The Grantee must invoice the Commission on a monthly basis. The Grantee will make 
every effort to submit invoices within 30 days after the month of service provision. 
Service rates may be different from rates generated by the Commission Rate Calculation 
Model. Rates for services will be finalized prior to grant execution. 

 
Invoices related to this grant agreement shall be completed on the invoice form(s) 
provided by the Commission and submitted electronically to 
FLCTDInvoice@dot.state.fl.us unless otherwise notified by the Commission. 

 
The Grantee must provide supporting documentation for reimbursement identifying the 
specific service designated as eligible for the grant. The Grantee shall provide sufficient 
detailed documentation for each cost or claim for reimbursement to allow an audit trail 
to ensure that the services rendered or costs incurred were for actual services provided. 
The documentation must be sufficiently detailed to comply with the laws and policies of 
the Department of Financial Services. 

mailto:FLCTDInvoice@dot.state.fl.us


 

4 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 

PART II 
GRANT APPLICATION 
INSTRUCTIONS AND FORMS 

 
 

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS 
 
Applications are due October 11, 2016. Final award decisions are scheduled to be approved at 
the Commission’s business meeting in November 2016. 

 
Presented in this part are specific instructions on the preparation of the grant application 
forms. To be considered complete, the application should contain Exhibits A, B, C and D as 
described in this manual. 

 
A. Although specific instructions on the preparation of the grant application are provided, 

additional assistance may be obtained by contacting the Commission for the 
Transportation Disadvantaged, (850) 410-5700. 

 
B. Applicants must submit one(1) original and eight (8) copies of each proposal. All 

applications must be legible. 
 

The application prepared by each CTC must be securely stapled and submitted to: 
 

Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged 
605 Suwannee Street, Mail Station 49 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0450 

 
Note: Binders are unnecessary and will be discarded in the processing of the grant. 

 

TIMETABLE 
 
June 13, 2016                    Mobility Enhancement Grant Applications emailed out to CTCs and 

Planners 
 
October 11, 2016               Applications due to the Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged 
 
October 28, 2016               Review Subcommittee Meeting 
(Tentative) 

 
November 8, 2016             Commission Meeting 
(Tentative) 

 
January 1, 2017                 Earliest date grant agreements can be effective 

 
June 30, 2017                    All Grant Agreements will terminate on June 30, 2017 



 

5 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 

EXHIBIT A INSTRUCTIONS – Application Form 
 

 

Except for the following notes, the applicant information form is self-explanatory. If questions 
arise, please contact the Commission. 

 
LEGAL NAME OF APPLICANT:  The full legal name of the applicant's organization, not an 
individual. Applicant name and address must be registered in MyFloridaMarketPlace. 

 
FEDERAL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: The number used by all employers within the United 
States to identify their payroll and federal income tax. This must include the three-digit 
sequence number that is registered with MyFloridaMarketPlace. If unsure of the sequence 
number, contact your Commission Area Manager. 

 
REMITTANCE ADDRESS:   This should be the applicant's mailing address where all 
correspondence is sent, and will be the address on the grant agreement and the address to 
which grant reimbursement checks will be sent. Changes of address must be registered in 
MyFloridaMarketPlace. If the physical location of the applicant is different from the mailing 
address, the applicant must notify the Commission of the applicant’s physical location of 
operations. 

 
PHONE NUMBER AND E-MAIL ADDRESS:  To facilitate faster communications, the applicant 
should also include telephone and fax numbers and any e-mail addresses used by the 
applicant’s grant contact person. 

 

EXHIBIT B INSTRUCTIONS – Scope 
 
This is a competitive grant application. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that 
each section provides sufficient information for the review committee to consider and award 
project funds accordingly. The completed Exhibit B should be no more than three pages long 
and answer the following questions: 

 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
Describe current transportation services that are available. Identify need and provide details 
on how services will be expanded or enhanced to meet the need and improve transportation 
access. Include any capital equipment that may need to be purchased to accomplish this 
project. Such capital equipment should be above and beyond what is normally acquired 
utilizing the Commission’s Trip & Equipment Grant or Shirley Conroy Rural Area Program 
Grant. 

 
A few project examples could include: expanded days or hours of operation; enhancement or 
development of new routes, including deviated and feeder services; inter-city or inter-county 
transportation services; utilization of transportation partners for vouchers or other innovative 
transportation services. 



 

6 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 

PROJECT TIMEFRAME 
This grant period will be for six months, effective no earlier than January 1, 2017, and ending 
June 30, 2017. Provide a schedule for completion of the project, identifying any preparation 
actions and pertinent milestones including when transportation services will actually begin. 

 
PROJECT PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
Provide performance measures that will be used to monitor the impact of the project in 
meeting the need as identified. Project performance will be monitored on a monthly basis. 
Project progress reviews will occur during March. Projects will be allowed to continue upon 
successful completion of progress reviews. 

 
Examples could include: the number of clients served, the number of trips provided, or cost 
analysis. 

 
PROJECT FUNDING 
Provide the amount of funding requested to complete this project. In addition, identify the 
source of matching funds to be used for the project. Include the methodology used to 
determine the amount requested and the units by which services will be provided. Rates for 

services may be different from rates generated by the Commission Rate Calculation 

Model. 
 
Examples could include trips, miles or vouchers. 

 

EXHIBIT C INSTRUCTIONS – AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION 
A resolution by the applicant's Board of Directors/County Commission authorizing an individual 
and/or position to sign this application and subsequent agreements, invoices, assurances, etc., 
must be completed. Exhibit C is a sample resolution for your consideration. It is not required 
that you use the sample resolution, as long as the same basic information is provided. The 
resolution must include original signatures. Remember that the resolution can be good for an 
extended period of time or for multiple agreements if worded in such a fashion. 

 

EXHIBIT D INSTRUCTIONS – STANDARD ASSURANCES 
The standard assurances form shall be signed and dated by the person or position identified in 
the authorizing resolution. 



 

7 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 

 

 

APPLICATION FORMS 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT A Grant Application (Application Form) 

EXHIBIT B Grant Application (Scope) 

EXHIBIT C Grant Application (Sample Authorizing Resolution) 

EXHIBIT D Grant Application (Standard Assurances) 



 

8 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged 
Grant Application Form for the 
Mobility Enhancement Grant 

 

 
 

1. DATE SUBMITTED: September 30, 2016   
 

2. LEGAL NAME OF APPLICANT: St. Lucie County Board of County Commissioners   
 

3. FEDERAL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 59-6000835   
 

4. REMITTANCE ADDRESS: 2300 Virginia Avenue   
 

5. CITY AND STATE:  Fort Pierce, FL  ZIP CODE:  34983   
 

6. CONTACT PERSON FOR THIS GRANT: Murriah Dekle   
 

7. PHONE NUMBER: 772-462-3065   FAX NUMBER: 772-462-2094   
 

8. E-MAIL ADDRESS: Deklem@stlucieco.org   
 

9. PROJECT LOCATION [County(ies)]: St. Lucie County   
 

10. PROPOSED START DATE: January 1, 2017   ENDING DATE: June 30, 2017 
 

11. ESTIMATED PROJECT FUNDING REQUESTED: 
 

Grant Funds $ 131,400                              90% 
 

Local Match $14,600  10% 
 

TOTAL $ 146,000  100% 
 
 
 

12.     I hereby certify that this document has been duly authorized by the governing body of the 
applicant, and the applicant intends to complete the project, and to comply with any attached 
assurances if the assistance is awarded. 

 

 

Ms. Paula Lewis, Chairperson of St. Lucie County Local Coordinating Board   
TYPED NAME OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE AND TITLE 

 

 
 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

DATE 

mailto:Deklem@stlucieco.org


 

9 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 
Scope 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

 
Current System 
St. Lucie County is located in southeast Florida, between Martin and Indian River 
Counties. It covers 571.93 square miles of land area with a population of 298,563. St. 
Lucie’s potential TD population is 51% of the total population; 17.3% of the population 
is below poverty level, 23% is elderly and 10.8% is disabled under the age of 65 
(Census St. Lucie County Quick Facts July 1, 2015). For 2015/16, Transit was funded by 
a Municipal Service Taxing Unit at 35%, Farebox at 6%, Transit Generated Funds at 
4%, Transportation Disadvantaged Grant at 11%, State Funds at 6% and Federal 
Funds at 38%. 
 
The St. Lucie County Board of County Commissioners, a complete brokerage system, 
contracts with Council on Aging of St. Lucie, Inc. / Community Transit to provide public 
transit and Transportation Disadvantaged (TD) service to the residents and visitors alike 
within St. Lucie County. Community Transit has been the contracted provider for St. 
Lucie County since 1992.   
 
Community Transit has two modes of transportation. A demand response system which 
is an origin to destination system where passenger trips are generated by calls from 
passengers or their agents at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance, to the Transit 
Reservationists, who then schedules a vehicle to pick up the passenger. Eligibility for 
this system is required. The demand response system also services eligible rural 
passengers. 
 
The second mode of transportation is a fixed route service, which provides service 
along specific routes with scheduled arrival times at predetermined bus stop areas. 
Community Transit has seven (7) routes servicing St. Lucie County. Route 1 connects 
with Martin County and Route 7 connects with Indian River County, which are the two 
neighboring counties south and north of St. Lucie County.   
 
Current Need 
As part of the Implementation and Financial Plan of St. Lucie County’s Transit 
Development Plan for FY 2015-2024, it was noted that an examination of current fare 
policies is needed to understand whether reductions in fares will increase ridership 
and/or reduce or increase farebox revenues. In addition to examining a reduction in 
fares, St. Lucie County and Community Transit would also examine the convenience of 
fare paying and free fares for the whole system. Below are programs that were put into 
place to start examining the current fare policies: 



 

10 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

 

 St. Lucie County implemented a pilot program called the Youth Free Ride 
Program in partnership with the Roundtable of St. Lucie County, which 
implemented the National Gang Model to address crime through prevention, 
intervention and suppression. By providing free transportation starting June 4, 
2015, St. Lucie County students have easy access to reading programs at local 
libraries, jobs, and recreational sites such as sporting events, swimming pools, 
music and drama activities, all of which provide opportunities to keep students 
engaged in structured activities. This program has been proven to be very 
successful. For the year that it has been in place, it generated 10,248 free trips 
for the youth 18 and under. The library and pools reported a dramatic increase in 
attendance and the Fort Pierce Police Department reported a 9% reduction in 
crime. 
 

 St. Lucie County has a program in place where if an individual cannot pay their 
fare, St. Lucie County will evaluate their ability to pay and if they qualify, provide 
them with a pass or a book of tickets to ride the system. In addition to St. Lucie 
County providing the tickets, many social service agencies have purchased 
tickets for their clients that could not afford the fares. Unfortunately, social 
service agencies have limited budgets for transportation and may not be 
capturing all of the individuals in need. In addition to the normal pass and book 
purchases from the passengers, the following Table 1 summarizes the 
distribution by St. Lucie County Community Services Department, and community 
partners such as local nonprofit social service agencies.   

 

 
 
Table 1.  

 
 

 Prior to the economic downturn, during the month of December, Community 
Transit offered free rides as a customer appreciation gesture. As a result of this 
marketing campaign, Community Transit experienced an increase in ridership of 
50%. 

 

 Fare collection takes approximately 1,700 employee hours per year to collect, 
sort, and count, prepare tickets and bank the farebox. In addition to the 

Annual  
Distribution 

Monthly 
Passes 

Unit 
Price 

Individual 
Tickets 

Unit 
Price 

Total 
Cost 

Demand Response - - 195 .50 $97.50 

Fixed Route         169 50.00 1017 2.00 $10,484 

     $10,581.50 



 

11 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

employee hours, an armored car is required to come and pick up the fares twice 
a month at an annual cost of approximately $600. Passengers have requested to 
pay their fares by credit card, caregivers of disabled individuals want to pre-pay 
fares on account, and many passengers do not have the exact dollar amount for 
their pass or book purchase and need change. Community Transit has looked 
into automating the fare collection to reduce some of the employee hours 
required to collect fares and to accommodate individuals by setting up accounts 
and paying by credit card. Community Transit uses nine (9) buses on its fixed 
route and has priced electronic fareboxes at $15,000 to $20,000 each. Just to 
accommodate the fixed route alone, it would cost approximately $135,000 to 
$180,000 plus installation to supply the fixed route with these fareboxes. 

 
 Another automated fare collection option is a software program that would allow 

individuals to set up their accounts via credit card or cash and use a mobile fare 
payment reader installed on the bus with a smart card or cell phone to pay the 
fares. The smart cards would need to be purchased separately through a vendor 
and distributed to the passenger. This software program would accommodate 
both the fixed route and demand response system. This software program was 
priced at $189,015 plus $31,200 maintenance fee each year. 

 

 Both fare methods above would still require a significant amount of staff time to 
assist and explain the system to the passengers and to set up a bank credit card 
account. The use of credit cards would result in a reduction of the farebox 
revenue by approximately 3%. 

 
A significant amount of administrative time and effort is invested into collecting and 
purchasing fares by Community Transit, St. Lucie County and various social service 
agencies. A resident of St. Lucie County, who cannot pay the fare and does not have a 
sponsor for their fares, would not be able to use the system, if it became automated. 
Reducing fares may help some of the residents of the County, but not all.   
 
Proposal 
Based upon the data above, and the recommendation of the TDP to evaluate fares, St. 
Lucie County and Community Transit would like to implement a six (6) month pilot 
project to implement free fares for the entire system. We would like investigate if any 
staff time is required, any cost involved and if the free fares enhance the mobility of the 
residents and visitors of St. Lucie County. If awarded, an evaluation of the ridership for 
both systems (demand response and fixed route) would occur to examine if ridership 
increases by at least 20%. If awarded, the performance measures will serve as a fare 
study and provide momentum for staff to explore additional funding sources to sustain 
a fare-free system.  
 



 

12 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

Based upon an analysis using the Florida Department of Transportation Transit 
Boardings Estimation and Simulation Tool (TBEST), a projected ridership increase of 
19.5% is estimated over a one-year period. Depicted in Table 2 below is a scenario 
report using three measures: boarding, performance and cost variables. Currently, the 
average cost paid per rider in St. Lucie County is $1.19 per trip.  
 
In turn, Federal apportionment grants, which are based on ridership, will increase due 
to the additional impact projected to the system. Should this project be successful 
based on the performance measures above, County staff and Community Transit will 
bring the study to the Board of County Commissioners for their review and 
consideration of free fares in St. Lucie County on a permanent basis by increasing the 
millage on the Municipal Service Taxing Unit to cover the loss of fares. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 2.  

 
 

Scenario Comparison Report 

Boardings, Performance and Cost Variables 
Scenario A:  Average fare per passenger $1.19 

Scenario B:  Zero Fare 

Transit System:  TCC 

Summary Span:  Service Year 

Operating Cost  

Formula:  
Cost Per Vehicle Hour ($65) + Cost Per Vehicle Mile ($0) 

Report Date:  8/10/2016 11:45 

                      

Summary                     

Route Name 
Additional  
Boardings (+\-
) 

Total Boardings 
Boardings Per Service 
Mile 

Cost Per Passenger Trip 

    A B % Change A B % Change A B % Change 

Route     1 9,642 81,380 91,022 11.8% 0.7 0.8 14.3% $6.2 $5.6 -9.7% 

Route     2 5,782 17,836 23,618 32.4% 0.4 0.5 25% $15.5 $11.7 -24.5% 

Route     3 9,852 37,648 47,500 26.2% 0.8 1 25% $7.4 $5.8 -21.6% 

Route     4 4,649 13,520 18,169 34.4% 0.4 0.6 50% $14.5 $10.8 -25.5% 

Route     5 2,904 10,920 13,824 26.6% 0.3 0.4 33.3% $17.8 $14.1 -20.8% 

Route     6 4,420 28,860 33,280 15.3% 0.3 0.3 0% $20.3 $17.6 -13.3% 

Route     7 394 2,860 3,254 13.8% 0.1 0.1 0% $55.1 $48.4 -12.2% 

Totals 37,643 193,024 230,667 19.5% 0.4 0.5 25% $19.5 $16.3 -16.4% 



 

14 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

PROJECT TIMEFRAME: 

January 2, 2017 – Ongoing - Initiate marketing for free fares. 
 
January 2, 2017 – June 30, 2017 Implement free fare transportation by covering all 
fareboxes and posting signs indicating the fares are free. 
 
July 2017 – Finish study and prepare agenda item for St. Lucie County Board of County 
Commissioners to present study findings.   
 

 
PROJECT PERFORMANCE MEASURES: 
 

1. Monthly, examine ridership statistics and determine increase/decrease. 
2. Investigate if any cost outside of marketing was incurred and how much staff 

time was devoted to this project. 

 

PROJECT FUNDING: 

6 month Fare Replacement   $126,000 
Marketing         20,000 
 
Total      $146,000 
 
90% - Requested Funding     131,400 
10% - Local Match (Transit MSTU)     14,600 
 
Total      $146,000 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 



 

15 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

 

EXHIBIT C 
AUTHORIZING RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION of the St. Lucie County Board of County Commissioners, hereinafter 
BOARD, hereby 
authorizes the filing of a Mobility Enhancement Grant Application with the Florida 
Commission for the 
Transportation Disadvantaged for Fiscal Year 2016-17. 
WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of St. Lucie County, Florida has made 
the following 
determinations: 
1. The Board is authorized to submit a Transportation Disadvantaged Trust Fund Grant 
Application 
to the Florida Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged for the Mobility 
Enhancement 
Grant for Fiscal Year 2016-17. 
2. The Board is authorized to accept the grant and undertake a Transportation 
Disadvantaged 
Service Plan program pursuant to Section 427.0159, Florida Statutes, and Rule 41-2 of 
the Florida 
Administrative Code. 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
ST. 
LUCIE COUNTY FLORIDA: 
1. This Board hereby authorizes the submission of the Mobility Enhancement Grant 
Application to the 
Florida Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged for Fiscal Year 2016-17 in the 
total 
amount of ______________ in Transportation Disadvantaged Trust Fund monies and 
_____________________________ in local monies, as indicated by Exhibit “A”. 
2. This Board authorizes the Chair of the Board of County Commissioners to execute the 
application 
and award agreement on behalf of the Board. 
3. This Board further authorizes the designee to execute any all subsequent documents 
necessary for 
including agreements, assurances, reimbursement invoices, warranties and others, 
which may be 
required in connection with the Transportation Disadvantaged Commission funding. 
4. This resolution shall become effective upon adoption. 
After motion and second motion, the vote on this resolution was as follows: 
Chairman Kim Johnson XXX 
Vice Chair Frannie Hutchinson XXX 



 

16 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

Chris Dzadovsky XXX 
Paula A. Lewis XXX 
Todd Mowery XXX 
PASSED AND DULY ADOPTED this _______day of ______ 2016 
ATTEST: BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA 
______________________ BY: ______________________________ 
Deputy Clerk Chair 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND 
CORRECTNESS: 
______________________________ 
County Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

17 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 

STANDARD 

ASSURANCES 

The recipient hereby assures 
and certifies that: 

 
(1)     The recipient will comply with the federal, state and local statutes, regulations, 
executive orders and administrative requirements that relate to discrimination on the 
basis of race, color, creed, religion, sex, age and handicap with respect to 
employment, service provision and procurement. 

 
(2)     Public and private for-profit, transit and paratransit operators have been or will 
be afforded a fair and timely opportunity by the local recipient to participate to the 
maximum extent feasible in the planning and provision of the proposed transportation 
planning services. 

 
(3)     The  recipient  has  the  requisite  fiscal,  managerial,  and  legal  capacity  to  
carry  out  the Transportation Disadvantaged Program and to receive and disburse 
State funds. 

 
(4)     The recipient intends to accomplish all tasks as identified in this 
grant application. 

 
(5)    The recipient is aware that the Mobility Enhancement Grant is a reimbursement 
grant. Reimbursement of funds will be approved for payment upon receipt of a 
properly completed invoice with supporting documentation. 

 

 

(6)     The recipient is aware that the approved project must be complete by June 30, 
2017, which means services must be provided by that date or reimbursement will not 
be approved. 

 
(7)     Mobility Enhancement Grant funds will not be used to supplant or replace 
existing federal, state, or local government funds. 



 

18 
Mobility Enhancement Grand Program Manual 
Form Rev. June 13,2016 
 

 
(8)    Vehicles shall meet or exceed the applicable criteria set forth in the Florida 
Department of Transportation's Guidelines for Acquiring Vehicles on file with the 
Commission on July 1, 2016, or criteria set forth by any other federal, state or local 
government agency. 

 

 

(9)     Capital equipment purchased through this grant shall comply with the 
recipient’s competitive procurement requirements or Chapter 287 and Chapter 427, 
Florida Statutes. 

 
This certification is valid for no longer than the agreement period for which the grant 
application is filed. 

 
 
 

Signature:   Date:    ____________ 
 
Name: Ms. Paula Lewis 

Title: Local Coordinating 
Board Chairperson 



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 8b 
 
Item Title:  U.S. 1/Edwards Road Bus Stop Access 
 
Item Origination: LCB 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –  Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Discuss and provide comments to staff. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Discuss and provide comments to staff.   
 
 
Attachments 
• Staff report 
  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO: St. Lucie Local Coordinating Board for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (LCB) 
 
THROUGH: Peter Buchwald 
 Executive Director 
 
FROM: Marceia Lathou 
 Transit Program Manager 
 
DATE: September 1, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: U.S. 1/Edwards Road Bus Stop Access 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
At its March 2016 and June 2016 LCB meetings, the LCB discussed access to 
bus stops at U.S. 1/Edwards Road. U.S. 1 is served by the Treasure Coast 
Connector (TCC) fixed-route bus service which runs hourly. Bus stops are 
located on U.S. 1 south of Edwards Road, both northbound and southbound, 
and are designated with signs only. See Figure 1.  
 
Both northbound and southbound stops have access issues. See Figures 2, 3, 
and 4. Although the northbound stop lies adjacent to a sidewalk, the sidewalk 
is separated by a wide planting strip and swale. When the swale fills, riders 
must step into the street to access the bus. No sidewalk exists at the 
southbound stop, which is located on a narrow planting strip. Because U.S. 1 
carries a high volume of traffic at high speeds, riders using the southbound 
bus stop are exposed to hazardous conditions.  
 
The U.S. 1/Edwards Road stops serve clients of Mustard Seed Ministries and 
other users. Mustard Seed is an outreach organization working cooperatively 
to provide assistance for low-income individuals and families. Many Mustard 
Seed clients are vulnerable road users, e.g., mothers with toddlers, disabled 
individuals, or elderly persons. 
 
 
 
 

Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



September 1, 2016 Page 2 of 7 
 

Figure 1- U.S. 1/Edwards Road 
 

 
 
 

Figure 2 – U.S. 1/Edwards Road Northbound Bus Stop 

 
 
 

 



September 1, 2016 Page 3 of 7 
 

Figure 3 – U.S. 1/Edwards Road Southbound Bus Stop 

 
 
 

Figure 4 – U.S. 1/Edwards Road Southbound Bus Stop 

 
 



September 1, 2016 Page 4 of 7 
 

Although Mustard Seed is located relatively close to the U.S. 1/Edwards Road 
signalized intersection, the distance is enough to induce mid-block crossings 
of U.S. 1, even by vulnerable road users.  
 
The FY 2016/17 – FY 2020/21 Transportation Improvement Program for the 
TPO Area includes a project that will improve conditions at the U.S. 1/Edwards 
Road stops. The project involves resurfacing the roadway and construction of 
sidewalks to fill sidewalk gaps on U.S. 1 from Midway Road to Edwards Road. 
The estimated start of construction for the project is FY 2017/18. The project 
is being constructed by the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT). 
 
Staff continues to communicate with FDOT regarding the possibility of 
including additional pedestrian safety enhancements near Edwards Road as 
part of the U.S. 1 resurfacing project. However, since project development is 
well underway, any changes to the project design at this stage may be difficult 
to accommodate. 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Where appropriate, a multi‐disciplinary “3E” approach could improve 
pedestrian safety at the U.S. 1/Edwards Road bus stops. The term “3E” refers 
to engineering, enforcement, and education. Each of these strategies is 
described below. 
 

• Engineering – Capital infrastructure, operating, and planning functions 
of transportation agencies such as FDOT, City and County Public Works 
Departments, St. Lucie County Community Services, Community Transit 
and the TPO. 

• Enforcement – Law enforcement agencies and court systems. 
• Education – School programs and curriculum and public information 

programs such as outreach to social services agencies and community 
organizations. 

 
Engineering 
 
Traffic Signals 
 
Because the ability of motorists to “Right Turn on Red” at signalized 
intersections influences pedestrian behavior, a restriction on RTOR should be 
considered. While the law requires motorists to come to a full stop and yield 
to cross street traffic and pedestrians prior to RTOR, many motorists do not 
fully comply with the regulations. Therefore, RTOR should be prohibited or at 
least restricted in areas where jaywalking is especially hazardous, as in the 

 



September 1, 2016 Page 5 of 7 
 

case of U.S. 1. A part-time ROTR prohibition during the busiest time of day 
may be sufficient to address the problem. See example in Figure 5. 
 

Figure 5  
Example RTOR Time Restriction 

 
 
A concern with RTOR prohibitions is that this may lead to higher RTOG (right 
turn on green) conflicts when both pedestrians and motorist have green 
signals and motorists attempt to speed through crosswalks. The use of the 
Leading Pedestrian Interval (LPI) can address this issue. The LPI releases 
pedestrians several seconds prior to the green light for vehicles so pedestrians 
can enter and occupy the crosswalk before turning drivers enter it. 
 
Transit Stop Improvements 
 
Transit stops should be highly visible locations that pedestrians of all abilities 
can reach easily by means of accessible travel routes. Treatments like bus 
shelters, bus benches, and trash receptacles not only increase the comfort of 
transit stops but also increase the visibility of stops, thus providing visual cues 
to motorists of the potential presence of pedestrians. The CTC and Community 
Transit will continue to review the U.S. 1/Edwards Road bus stops for possible 
enhancement before and after the completion of the U.S. 1 resurfacing 
project. 
 
 
Enforcement 
 
Enforcement strategies help deter unsafe behaviors by all road users. For 
example, if restricted RTOR were implemented, enforcement could range from 
“sting” operations to sign boards that alert motorists of the new restrictions. 
 
 
 

 



September 1, 2016 Page 6 of 7 
 

Motorists 
 
Police enforcement can increase driver awareness of the need to share the 
road with all road users. With RTOR, motorists are often so intent on looking 
for traffic approaching on their left that they may not be alert to pedestrians 
on their right. Also, motorists usually pull up into the crosswalk to wait for a 
gap in traffic, blocking pedestrian crossing movements. In some instances, 
motorists simply do not come to a full stop. Unsafe motorist behavior at 
marked crosswalks is one of the causes of pedestrian crashes at these 
crosswalks. 
 
Pedestrians  
 
Safe behaviors for pedestrians means walking on a sidewalk when one is 
provided, crossing intersections only in crosswalks, and obeying traffic signals. 
Enforcement against jaywalking, for instance, can help to save pedestrians 
from fatal encounters with cars and to protect drivers from being forced to 
brake for someone unexpectedly crossing the middle of the road.  
 
Bicyclists 
 
Enforcement can help remind bicyclists to obey the rules of the road while 
riding in the street. A recent survey found that bicyclists and motorists ignore 
traffic laws at similar rates. Although bicyclists do not inflict as much harm to 
pedestrians as motorists do, a bicycle/pedestrian crash can seriously injure a 
pedestrian. 
 
 
Education 
 
Providing education, outreach, and training is a key strategy in increasing 
pedestrian and motorist safety awareness. Pedestrians and/or motorists can 
be misinformed regarding traffic laws, which may lead to risky or reckless 
behavior. In addition to education strategies targeting Mustard Seed clients, 
efforts by the TPO to develop safety programs, identify priorities, and 
implement improvements will continue. 
 
As mentioned earlier, bus infrastructure at the U.S. 1/Edwards Road stops 
consists of signs only. Therefore, a strategy to reduce potential 
pedestrian/motorist conflicts at these stops is to limit the amount of time 
riders wait for the bus. Toward this end, the CTC provided Mustard Seed with 
an Internet link to real-time bus information. Real-time bus locations for the 
U.S. 1 route will be displayed on a monitor in Mustard Seed’s waiting room. 
Riders can then determine when the bus is far enough away to access the 

 



September 1, 2016 Page 7 of 7 
 

U.S.1/Edwards bus stops but close enough to minimize wait times. CTC staff 
will provide handout and presentations on the use of the real-time data. 
 
In addition, TPO staff assembled a compilation of jaywalking videos for 
presentation on Mustard Seed’s waiting room monitor. In cooperation with the 
CTC, TPO staff will follow up with trainings on pedestrian safety. 
 
At the Community Traffic Safety Team meeting of August 25, 2016, the 
members suggested providing all bus riders along the U.S. 1 route with 
pamphlets on safe walking/bicycle and/or posting safety tips on the buses. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Discuss and provide comments to staff. 

 



 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 8c 
 
Item Title:  CTC Performance Measures 
 
Item Origination: Florida Commission for the Transportation 

Disadvantaged (FCTD) 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –  Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Discuss and provide comments to staff. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Discuss and provide comments to staff.   
 
 
Attachments 
• Staff Report 
  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 







 

Coco Vista Centre 
466 SW Port St. Lucie Blvd, Suite 111 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34953 
772-462-1593     www.stlucietpo.org 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 
 
 
Board/Committee: St. Lucie LCB 
 
Meeting Date: September 14, 2016 
 
Item Number: 8d 
 
Item Title:  Mobility Needs Survey 
 
Item Origination: Section 5310 Advisory Committee 
 
UPWP Reference: Task 3.8   –  Transportation Disadvantaged (TD)    
                                          Program  
 
Requested Action: Discuss and provide comments to staff. 
 
Staff Recommendation: Discuss and provide comments to staff.   
 
 
Attachments 
• Staff report 
• Draft mobility surveys 
  

 

 
Transportation Planning for Fort Pierce, Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie Village and St. Lucie County 



 

 
 
 
TO:     Members of the Local Coordination Board (LCB) 
 
THROUGH:   Susan Bykofsky, Gulfstream Goodwill, VP of Programs  
  
FROM:   Natasha Serra, Regional Mobility Management Facilitator for G. Goodwill 
 
DATE:   September 7, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:   Update on Section 5310 Grant via Gulfstream Goodwill 
 
 
A draft work plan was developed and sent to all Section 5310 Committee members July 13, 2016. The work plan lists 5 
goals, activities to accomplish these goals, performance measurements and which tools may be used to measure 
performance. A meeting to discuss the work plan was scheduled for August 10th, 2016. 
 
 Minutes for the first Section 5310 Advisory Committee meeting were sent on August 24th, 2016 to all Section 5310 
committee members.  
 
A logic model for the ‘Needs Assessment Surveys’ was drafted and sent on August 31st, 2016 and resent September 7th, 
2016 to all Section 5310 Advisory Committee.  
 
The needs assessment surveys (one for social service agencies and one for residents in Martin and St. Lucie County) 
were also drafted and sent on August 31st, 2016.  The surveys are to be reviewed by each member of the Section 5310 
Advisory Committee by September 16th, 2016.  
 
The job posting for a Rural Mobility Management Facilitator was posted with various agencies such as: 
Employ Florida/CareerSource locations, Rural Transportation Association Program (National), Center for Urban 
Transportation Research, American Planning Association, Women’s Planning Association, Florida Public Transportation 
Association, National Center for Mobility Management, Community Transportation Association of America and Easter 
Seals Project Action.  

 
Gulfstream Goodwill may be attending the CTD and FPTA Conference in Jacksonville in December 11th, 2016.  
 



 
 
 

Transportation Needs Assessment for Martin and St. Lucie County 
 
 
Gulfstream Goodwill industries, the local transportation providers in Martin and St. Lucie 
County, and the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) are working together to identify 
ways of improving transportation options for residents and visitors of Martin and St. Lucie 
County.  You have been randomly selected to complete the following questionnaire.  Your input 
is important to us even if all the people in your household drive or have never used local 
transportation services.  If at any time you are uncomfortable or do not wish to disclose 
information, you are free to leave questions blank or discontinue the survey.   
 
Before you begin, please tell us if are you answering the survey for someone who is unable to 
complete the survey for themselves.  Yes ____ No ____ 
 
1. How old are you and the other members of your household? (Please check each of the spaces 
that best describes you and write the number of people that fit each category for the other members of 
your household)    You           Others 

0-17 years of age  ____  ____ 
18-35 years of age  ____  ____ 
36-59 years of age  ____  ____ 
60-69 years of age  ____  ____ 
70-79 years of age   ____  ____ 
More than 80 years of age  ____  ____ 
 

2. Are you a caregiver for a person over age 60 or with a disability?    
Yes ____ No ____ 

 
3. Do you have a disability or other health concern that prevents you from driving?   

Yes ____ No ____ 
 
4. What is your primary means of transportation? (Please check all that apply)  

____ Personal automobile  
____ Friend, relative, or neighbor  
____ Volunteer driver  
____ Local bus service 
____ Senior center van  
____ Private van service  
____ Medicaid transportation  
____ Other ___________________________________________________________________ 

 
5. If you don’t drive a car, why not? (Please check all that apply.) 

____ Can’t drive due to a medical/physical condition  
____ Can’t afford a car  
____ Can’t afford gas/insurance 
____ Lost driver’s license 
____ No need, everything I need I can access without a car 
____ I use a transportation network company to get around (eg. Uber, Lyft, Favor, other TNC) 

 



 
____ Other ___________________________________________________________________ 

 
6. Are you aware of the local transit provider’s bus schedule and services? 

Yes ____ No ____ 
 
7. Do you ride the bus or utilize paratransit services?  Yes ___ No ___ 
 
8. If you do not use the bus regularly, why not? (Please check all that apply.)  

____ No service where I am or where I want to go  
____ Poor connections or transfers 
____ Long wait times 
____ Long time intervals between pick up and final destination 
____ Limited hours of operation  
____I don’t know how to ride the bus  
____ I don’t feel safe on the bus  
____ I can’t afford it  
____ I don’t know about it 
____ I don’t need it 
____ Other (Please list on line provided below): 
 ____________________________________________________________________________ 

  
9. What times would you MOST want to use the transportation service (such as a bus or taxi)? 
(Please check all that apply.)  

____ 6 am to 9 am   ____ 4 pm to 7 pm   
____ 9 am to 12 noon  ____ 7 pm to 10 pm 
____ 12 noon to 4 pm  ____ 10 pm to 6 am  

 
10. What days of the week would you be most likely to travel locally using a transportation 
service (such as a bus or taxi)? (Please check all that apply)  

____ Monday   ____ Friday  
____ Tuesday   ____ Saturday  
____ Wednesday  ____ Sunday 
____ Thursday  

 
11.  Do you need any of the following kinds of assistance when you travel locally? (Please check 
all that apply)  

____ Assistance getting into and out of a vehicle  
____ Escort or aide to accompany you  
____ Help loading and unloading packages  
____ Door-to-door service  
____ Wheelchair, lift or ramp  
____ Space for a fold-up wheelchair  
____ Service dog  
____ Other 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

12. In an average week, how many vehicle trips (include a round trip as two trips) do you take? 
(Please check one that most applies)  

____ None   ____ 11-15 
____ 1-5  ____ 16-20 

 



 
____ 6 – 10  ____ More than 20 
 

13. If you had additional transportation options (such as a bus or taxi), how many MORE trips 
would you take per week? (Please check one that most applies)  

____ None   ____ 11-15 
____ 1-5  ____ 16-20 
____ 6 – 10  ____ More than 20 

 
14. How important would each of the following characteristics be in your decision to use a 
transportation service (such as a bus or taxi)? (Please circle the number that most applies) 
(1-Not Important, 2- Somewhat Important, 3- Important, 4- Very Important) 
 
     Not Important    Very Important 
    

Service from home to work  1 2 3 4  
Flexibility    1 2 3 4  
Evening service   1 2 3 4  
Late-night service   1 2 3 4  
Weekend service   1 2 3 4  
Guaranteed ride home   1 2 3 4  
Very few stops   1 2 3 4  
Clear fare structure   1 2 3 4  
Easy to arrange trip   1 2 3 4  
Same day scheduling   1 2 3 4  
Wheelchair accessible   1 2 3 4 
Sensitivity of drivers   1 2 3 4 
Sidewalks to get to bus stops             1 2 3 4 
Safety at stops    1 2 3 4 
Safety while on the bus  1 2 3 4 
Wi-fi at stops and on the bus  1 2 3 4 
 
Other _______________________________________________________________________ 
 

15. How much would you pay a transportation service (such as a bus or taxi) each way? (Please 
check one that most applies) 

____ Less than $3.00 
____ $3.01 - $5.00 
____ $5.01 - $7.00 
____ More than $7.01 
____ Other 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

16.  If you had access to a transportation service (such as a bus or taxi), which of the following 
would be most accurate? (Please check one that applies most)  

____I make more trips 
____I would make fewer trips 
____I would make the same number of trips 
 

17. Do you think that there is community support for a transportation service? 
Yes ____ No ____  

 



 
Please explain: 
 

 
18. Would you support an increase in sales or property taxes to support a coordinated 
transportation system in the county you live in? 

Yes ____ No ____   
Please explain: 

 
 
 
 
19. Please add any additional comments you may have about public transportation in the    
Treasure Coast region. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Thank you for your assistance! 

 



 

NEEDS ASSESSMENT SURVEY FOR SOCIAL SERVICE AGENCIES 
 
Gulfstream Goodwill Industries (GGI) needs your help.  GGI was awarded a grant 
by the Florida Department of Transportation to explore the transportation needs 
in our region with the goal of trying to develop a safe, comprehensive and 
accessible transportation network that delivers regional coverage on a sustainable 
basis by coordinating public, private and non-profit partnerships. 
 
The feedback you give us is crucial in helping us get to the next step in the plan. 
 
Please take the attached survey to provide us with feedback and information 
about your transportation needs and the needs of your household members.   
 
For more information about this project, contact Natasha Serra (contact 
information below). 
 
Return completed survey within 14 days to:   
 
Natasha Serra 
Regional Mobility Management Facilitator  
Ph. (772) 267-3084 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Needs Assessment Survey -GGI  October 2016 

AGENCY INFORMATION 
Company Information 

Agency Name: 
______________________________________ 

Known As: 
______________________________________ 

Street Address: 
______________________________________ 

City, State & Zip Code: 
______________________________________ 

Agency Telephone: 
______________________________________ 

Fax: 
______________________________________ 

Agency Name: 
______________________________________ 

Known As: 
______________________________________ 

Website: 
______________________________________ 

City, State & Zip Code: 
______________________________________ 

Agency Representative Information 

Name: 
______________________________________ 

Title: 
______________________________________ 

Direct Telephone: 
______________________________________ 

Email: 
______________________________________ 

GENERAL AGENCY INFORMATION 
1. Organization Type:  

□ Public 
□ Private 
□ Non-Profit 

2. Main Funding Type(s), i.e. Name of grant, fares, donations:     

□ Federal  ________________________________________________ 

□ State  __________________________________________________       

□ Local  __________________________________________________ 3. Number of 
employees? _____ 

4. What are the major functions/services of your organization?  (Please check all that apply.) 
□ Transportation 
□ Health Care 
□ Nutrition 
□ Housing 
□ Education 
□ Job Training / Job Placement 

□ Employment 
□ Counseling 
□ Religious Services 
□ Companion / Respite 
□ Financial Assistance 
□ Rehabilitation Services 

□ Recreation / Social 
□ Information / Referral 
□ Other_____________ 

                                 
__________________ 

5. If your agency provides transportation services, what type of service, purpose and criteria 

for obtaining transportation services? 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________________  



Needs Assessment Survey -GGI  October 2016 

DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION OF THOSE THE AGENCY SERVES 
6. Race/Ethnicity: (Please estimate percentage of population served.):    

□ African American  ____% 
□ Asian _______% 

 

□ Hispanic/Latin ______% 
□ White _______% 

                         

□ Other ______% 

7. Type of clients served:   (Please check all that apply.)  
□ People with Disabilities  
□ Students in Public School 
□ Students in Private School 
□ College Students 
□ Women with Prenatal care 
□ Veterans 

□ Job Access / On the job training 
□ Welfare-To-Work 
□ Medicaid  
□ Medicare 
□ Seniors 
□ General Public 

□ Other Clients/members of your organization:   (Please Specify.) _______________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

□ Clients/members of other organizations:  (Please Specify.) ____________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

□ Senior citizens:  (Please Specify 50+, 55, 60+ 65+, etc.) _______________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

□ People with disabilities:  (Defined as) _____________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

□ People with medical conditions:  (Please Specify.) ___________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

□ Other:  (Please Specify.) _______________________________________________________ 

8. Types of trips needed most by the population you serve:  (Please check all that apply.) 
□ Bank  
□ Childcare 
□ Employment 
□ Library 
□ Medical Appointments 
□ Pharmacy  
□ Worship Services  
□ Grocery/Nutritional  

□ Post Office 
□ Recreational 
□ School 
□ Shopping 
□ Volunteering 
□ College / University / 
□ Vocational Training 
□ Group Therapy  

□ Individual Case 
Management 

□  Other_______________ 
 
____________________ 
 
____________________ 

9. What area of the counties do you serve?   
__________________________________________________________________________________                                            
                                            Town/Cities 

10. What locations do most people need transportation to?    
       
___________________________________________________________________                                                                                                               
Town/Cities 



Needs Assessment Survey -GGI  October 2016 

11. What are the barriers to utilizing public transportation? (Please rate 0 to 5; 5 = greatest barrier.) 
    Least                           Greatest  
   Barrier                        Barrier 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Affordability 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Disability / Health condition 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Language Barrier _______________(native language) 

    Least                          Greatest  
   Barrier                        Barrier 

0      1     2     3     4     5 No service location where they live. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 No service location where they want to go. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 They don’t know how to ride the bus. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Scheduling problems. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Too long to wait for transportation. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Poor connections or transfers. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Too long to walk between connections. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Last minute transport cancellations due to overbooking. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 
Not running the hours they need. 

If so, what hours are needed? _____________________________________ 

0      1     2     3     4     5 Not safe on the bus. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 They don’t need transportation. 

0      1     2     3     4     5 
Other   (Please Specify.) ___________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________ 
12. What mode of public transportation do most of your clients use to get around??   

(Circle the TOP THREE ONLY that apply with 1 being the most used.) 
1     2     3     Public Transportation 1     2     3     Community Coach (Martin County) 

1     2     3     Taxi / Uber/ Lyft 1     2     3     Community Transit (St Lucie County)         

1     2     3     Treasure Coast Connector 1     2     3     Ride from Family, friends or neighbors. 

1     2     3     Use Office for the Aging for shopping and medical appointments. 

1     2     3     Use Medicaid transportation for medical appointments. 

1     2     3     Ride Match, South Florida Commuter Service (1-800-234-RIDE) 
1     2     3     Community Transportation, such as Church, Agency, etc. - If so, what agency/church                

                      provides this service? _____________________________________________________ 

1     2     3     Other:  (Please Specify.) _____________________________________________________ 

                     _______________________________________________________________________               



Needs Assessment Survey -GGI  October 2016 

13. Are those you serve unable to travel alone due to the following issues?  (Please check all that 
apply.)  
□ Disability / Health condition 
□ No vehicle that works 
□ Lack of Funds (Can’t afford car or gas.) 

□ No valid driver’s license. 
□ No Access to public transportation 
□ Unaware of public transportation 

□ Other:  (Please Specify.) ___________________________________________________________ 
       ______________________________________________________________________________ 

14. What are the top four barriers to travel for those you serve who need additional 
assistance?  (Please circle the TOP FOUR ONLY that apply with 1 being the most greatest 
barrier.) 

1     2     3     4    Escort to accompany individual 1     2     3     4    Wheelchair, lift or ramp 
1     2     3     4    Help loading and unloading packages 1     2     3     4    Door-to-door services 
1     2     3     4    Space for a fold-up wheelchair 1     2     3     4    Space for a full-size stroller 

1     2     3     4    Assistance getting into and out of a vehicle 
1     2     3     4    Other : (Please Specify) ______________________________________________________ 

                             ________________________________________________________________________ 

15. Does the population you serve speak English as a second language (ESL)?  
 □  Yes         □  No    
▪ If yes, what percentage _______________% 
▪ If yes, what language is most spoken?  _______________________________________ 

16. Would you support an increase in sales or property taxes to support a coordinated 
transportation system?            □  Yes         □  No 

17. Would you like to join our group of individuals that meet to improve community 
transportation?            □  Yes         □  No 

18. Would your agency be interested in providing volunteer driving services?  
 □  Yes         □  No  

19. Please list any suggestions to improve transportation services 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

20. Please make any other comments or suggestions here:  

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Thank you for participating in the survey! 
 



Needs Assessment Survey -GGI  October 2016 

The vision of ____________is to develop a safe, comprehensive and accessible transportation network 
that delivers regional coverage on a sustainable basis by coordinating public, private and non-profit 

partnerships.   

We thank you for joining us as we work towards this endeavor! 


	St. Lucie LCB - September  14,, 2016 Meeting Agenda
	LCB-Regular Meeting Minutes  6-15-2016
	Agenda Item Summary - AOR- Sept 2016
	Members of the LCB part 2 - AOR staff report
	Agenda Item Summary - By-laws- Sept 2016
	by-laws revision staff report
	Agenda Item Summary - Grievance Procedures - Sept 2016
	grievance  procedures revision staff report
	Agenda Item Summary - Coordination Agreements- Sept 2016
	Members of the LCB part 4 - coordination agreements
	Agenda Item Summary - Shirley Conroy Grant- Sept 2016
	Members of the LCB  - shirley conroy
	shirley conroy app
	Agenda Item Summary - mobility grant- Sept 2016
	Members of the LCB part 5 - mobility enhancement grant
	Agenda Item Summary - U.S. 1 bus stops- Sept 2016
	bus stop  staff report - draft
	Agenda Item Summary - performance measures- Sept 2016
	Members of the LCB - performance measures
	Agenda Item Summary - Mobility Needs Survey- Sept 2016
	Needs Assessment Survey
	Transportation Needs Assessment for Martin and St. Lucie County

	Needs Assessment-SSA.GG
	ADP142D.tmp
	1.0 OVERVIEW
	1.1 ESTABLISHMENT
	1.2 PURPOSE
	1.3 AUTHORITY

	2.0 STRUCTURE
	2.1 BOARD
	2.1.1 Composition & Membership
	2.1.2 Terms of Membership
	2.1.3 Attendance
	2.1.4 Vacancy
	2.1.5 Alternates
	2.1.6 Officers
	2.1.7 Minutes
	2.1.8 Voting
	2.1.9 Quorum


	3.0 OPERATING PROCEDURES
	3.1 ADMINISTRATIVE OPERATIONS
	3.2 MEETINGS
	3.3 PUBLIC ACCESS
	3.4 NOTICE OF MEETINGS AND WORKSHOPS
	3.5 AGENDA
	3.6 EMERGENCY MEETINGS, WORKSHOPS & COMMITTEE MEETINGS
	3.7 MEETING RULES & PROCEDURES
	3.8 AMENDMENTS
	3.9 FLORIDA GOVERNMENT IN THE SUNSHINE LAW



